1997

James Cassidy v. The Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Council : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78- 2a-3(b)(i) (1996). The District Court entered an order granting Summary Judgment¹ to appellee The Salt Lake Fire Civil Service Council on July 31, 1997. The appeal was timely filed pursuant to Utah R. App. Pro. 3 and 4 on August 29, 1997.

STATEMENT AND PRESERVATION OF THE ISSUES

A. Did the trial court err in finding that Jim Cassidy's ("Cassidy") complaints were not protected speech? Issues involving mixed questions of "whether a given set of facts comes within the reach of a given rule of law" require that the underlying empirical facts be reviewed under a deferential clear error standard but the legal effect of those facts "is the province of the appellate courts, and no deference need be given a trial court's resolution of such questions of law." Drake v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 317 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (Utah 1997), State v. Vincent, 883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994). This issue was preserved at R. 156-210.

B. Did the trial Court err in finding no causal connection between Cassidy's complaints and his failure to be promoted? Issues involving mixed questions of "whether a given set of facts comes within the reach of a given rule of law" require that the underlying empirical facts be reviewed under a deferential clear error standard but the legal effect of those facts "is the province of the appellate courts, and no deference need be given a trial court's resolution of such questions of

¹Although the District Court designated its decision as one for Summary Judgment, it was in fact a Judgment on the Record. On May 16, 1996, the District Court ruled that its review would be limited to the record of the proceeding before the Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Council and that it would not grant Cassidy a trial de novo. R. 104-105. Following that ruling, the parties made cross-motions for judgment based on the agreed upon record.

law." Drake v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 317 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (Utah 1997), State v. Vincent, 883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994). This issue was preserved at R. 164-167.

C. Did the District Court err in finding that Cassidy was not subject to adverse action? Issues involving mixed questions of "whether a given set of facts comes within the reach of a given rule of law" require that the underlying empirical facts be reviewed under a deferential clear error standard but the legal effect of those facts "is the province of the appellate courts, and no deference need be given a trial court's resolution of such questions of law." Drake v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 317 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (Utah 1997), State v. Vincent, 883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994). This issue was preserved at R. 236.

D. Did the District Court err by refusing to place the burden of persuasion on the Fire Department that it would not have hired Cassidy anyway after Cassidy presented direct evidence that the Fire Chief retaliated against him for speaking out on matters of public concern? Issues involving mixed questions of "whether a given set of facts comes within the reach of a given rule of law" require that the underlying empirical facts be reviewed under a deferential clear error standard but the legal effect of those facts "is the province of the appellate courts, and no deference need be given a trial court's resolution of such questions of law." Drake v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 317 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (Utah 1997), State v. Vincent, 883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994). This issue was preserved at R. 232.

E. Did the District Court err in finding that Cassidy's First Amendment Rights were not violated? Issues involving mixed questions of "whether a given set of facts comes within the reach of a given rule of law" require that the underlying empirical facts be reviewed under a deferential clear error standard but the legal effect of those facts "is the province of the appellate

courts, and no deference need be given a trial court's resolution of such questions of law." Drake v. Industrial Comm'n of Utah, 317 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (Utah 1997), State v. Vincent, 883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994). This issue was preserved at R. 156-210.

DETERMINATIVE RULES

Utah Code Ann. 17-28-2.4. County Fire Civil Service System rules and policies.

- (1) The executive director shall recommend rules and policies for the County Fire Civil Service System, which shall be subject to approval by the county legislative body.
- (2) The County Fire Civil Service System rules shall provide for recruiting activities, including the recruiting of minorities and women, job-related minimum requirements, selection procedures, certification procedures, appointments, probationary periods, promotion, position classification, record keeping, reductions in force, grievances and complaints, disciplinary action, work hours, holidays, and other necessary and proper requirements not inconsistent with this chapter.
- (3) The executive director shall publish or cause to be published these rules and policies in a manual form, to be updated regularly and made available to fire department employees.

Utah Code Ann. 17-28-2.6. Merit principles.

The County Fire Civil Service System shall be established and administered in a manner that will provide for the effective implementation of the following merit principles:

- (1) recruiting, selecting, and advancing employees on the basis of their relative ability, knowledge, and skills, including open consideration of qualified applicants for initial appointment;
- (2) provision of equitable and adequate job classification and compensation systems, including pay and benefits programs;
- (3) training of employees as needed to assure high-quality performance;
- (4) retention of employees on the basis of the adequacy of their performance and separation of employees whose inadequate performance cannot be corrected;
- (5) fair treatment of applicants and employees in all aspects of personal administration without regard to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, political affiliation, age, or handicap, and with proper regard for their privacy and constitutional rights as citizens;
- (6) provision of information to employees regarding their political rights and prohibited practices under the Hatch Act; and
- (7) provision of a formal procedure for processing the appeals and grievances of employees without discrimination, coercion, restraint, or reprisal.

Utah Code Ann. 17-28-7. Examinations.

- (1) A person may not be appointed to any civil service position as a firefighter in any fire department subject to the provisions of this chapter until he has successfully passed an examination and been certified as eligible for consideration by the County Fire Civil Service executive director, except that any honorably discharged veteran of the United States military service shall receive preferential employment consideration for entry into the County Fire Civil Service System.
- (2) All examinations shall be public, competitive, and free and fairly test the ability of persons to discharge the duties of the position.

Utah Code Ann. 17-28-13. Appeal to district court.

- (1) Any person aggrieved by a determination of the County Fire Civil Service Council may, within 30 days after notice of the council's ruling, institute an action in the District Court of the county or in the county of the aggrieved person's residence, against the County Fire Civil Service Council in its official capacity, setting out his grievance and his right to complain. In its answer, the council may set out any matter in justification.
- (2) The court shall determine the issues of both questions of law and fact and may affirm, set aside, or modify the council ruling.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises out of the Salt Lake County Fire Department's failure to promote Cassidy to the position of Station Captain despite his position high on the register.

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

On November 22, 1992, Cassidy filed a grievance with the Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Council alleging that Salt Lake County Fire Chief Larry Hinman's failure to promote him was in violation of his statutory and constitutional rights. On April 23, 1993, the Council ruled that it did not have jurisdiction to hear grievances involving promotions. Cassidy appealed that ruling to the Third District Court. On October 31, 1994, the District Court ruled that the Council does have jurisdiction to hear promotional grievances and remanded the matter to the

Council for a decision on the merits. On April 11, 1995, the Council ruled that the Fire Department did not violate Cassidy's statutory or constitutional rights by failing to promote him.

This matter was filed in the Third District Court on May 11, 1995 alleging that the Salt Lake County Fire Department violated Cassidy's rights to free speech guaranteed by the United States and Utah Constitutions, and that the County Fire Department violated §17-28-2.6 which requires that advancement within the Fire Department be on the basis of "relative ability, knowledge and skills." Cassidy alleged that his failure to be promoted is causally related to his exercise of his right to engage in protected speech. Following briefing by the parties, the District Court granted defendant's Motion to limit the Court's review to the record of the proceeding before the Fire Civil Service Council. The Court determined that it had the authority to determine questions of both law and fact and that it could affirm, set aside or modify the ruling below. On July 31, 1997, following briefing and argument by the parties, the District Court granted judgment for defendants on all claims.

C. DISPOSITION BELOW

This is an appeal of a Decision by the Third District Court of Salt Lake County on July 31, 1997, granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the Record and denying Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment on the Record. The Third District Court was reviewing a decision of the Firefighters Civil Service Council pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §17-28-13(B).

D. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On August 1, 1982, James Cassidy ("Cassidy") was hired by the Salt Lake County Fire Department as a firefighter. On October 1, 1992, Cassidy was promoted to Hazardous

Materials Technician, Grade 22 from his prior position of Emergency Medical Technician, Grade 21. R. 37 ¶ 1.

2. On September 28, 1990, Captain and Fire Marshall Max Berry issued a new protocol concerning the proper procedure for dealing with minor violations of the Fire Code when conducting Fire Inspections. Memorandum to All Personnel, dated September 28, 1990 from Captain Max Berry. R. 112.

3. The new protocol required:

Where minor violations, that are not life threatening are found, such as the use of extension cords, outlet covers missing, or fire extinguishers not tagged, please note the violation on an FP 132, obtain a signature from the business owner or manager, and schedule one follow-up inspection.

If the violations are not corrected at that time, make a note on the FP 132 that the owner or manager is aware of the violation, and it must be corrected. Then obtain a signature again from the owner/manager and state that if the correction is not made by your next annual inspection, a citation will be issued. This procedure will alleviate the amount of FP 132s coming into Fire Prevention for follow-up on minor violations.

Id.

4. Shortly thereafter, on October 26, 1990, Cassidy filed a grievance with Captain Scott Collins arguing that the new fire inspection protocol was illegal, contrary to the mission statement of the fire department, bad management and a financial risk. Cassidy suggested that the new protocol increased the risk of fatalities "traced to an ignition source that was found by one of our inspectors but not eliminated by proper code enforcement." Memorandum from James P. Cassidy to Captain Scott Collins, dated October 26, 1990. R. 114.

5. On that same day, Captain Scott Collins responded to Cassidy's grievance stating "there is nothing I can do to answer your grievance." Collins concluded that the new policy was legally defensible. Memorandum from Captain Scott Collins to Jim Cassidy dated October 26, 1990, R. 113.
6. On October 31, 1990, Cassidy wrote to Chief Larry Hinman requesting a second formal level of review for his grievance. Letter from James P. Cassidy to Chief Larry Hinman dated October 31, 1996, R. 115.
7. On November 2, 1990, Hinman responded to Cassidy's grievance. Hinman's written response indicated that Cassidy's concerns did not have standing under the grievance procedure. However, after acknowledging the importance of the issues raised by Cassidy, Hinman went on to refute his concerns on the merits. Hinman concluded the letter by suggesting that if Cassidy believed his concerns to be of a giveable nature, he could proceed to the next step in the grievance process. Letter from Fire Chief Larry Hinman to James P. Cassidy, dated November 2, 1990, R. 116-118.
8. On November 14, 1990, Cassidy appealed Chief Hinman's decision to Terry Holzworth, Director of Public Works. Letter from James Cassidy to Terry Holzworth, dated November 14, 1990, R. 122.
9. On November 19, 1990, Holzworth rejected Cassidy's grievance as being outside the grievance process. Letter from R.T. Holzworth to James P. Cassidy Jr. dated November 1990, R. 126.

10. On November, 30, 1990, Cassidy appealed Holzworth's decision to the Salt Lake Fire Civil Service Review Commission. Handwritten note from James P. Cassidy to the Salt Lake Fire Civil Service Commission, dated November 30, 1990, R. 127.
11. On December 21, 1990, the Salt Lake Fire Civil Service Commission rejected Cassidy's grievance as outside its jurisdiction. Decision dated December 21, 1996, R. 128.
12. In the spring of 1992, the Fire Department announced the creation of the Wild Land Fire Crew, a separate staff of firefighters, not included in the merit system, to fight Salt Lake County fires in unpopulated areas. Transcript of Hearing before the Salt Lake Fire Civil Service Council at 162-163 (hereinafter "Transcript").²
13. Cassidy expressed to his Station Captain, Scott Collins, and Assistant Chief Berry, his belief that the creation of the Wild Land Fire Crew was illegal because it did not comply with the statutory merit system for firefighters. Id.
14. Cassidy never filed a grievance or took any formal action regarding the Wild Lands Fire Crew. Id.
15. In 1991, Cassidy first took the examination for promotion to Captain with the Salt Lake Fire Civil Service and was placed fourth on the register. Transcript at 158-159.
16. During February 1992, four vacancies for Captain opened up. Transcript at 160.
17. Cassidy was interviewed in February, 1992, for the vacancies and not promoted. Id.
18. In October of 1992, another vacancy opened up for Captain for which Cassidy was eligible. R. 37, ¶ 2.

²References herein to "Transcript" refer to the transcript of the hearing before the Fire Civil Service Council which is included in the record in a separate volume.

19. As of October 1992, Cassidy was first on the register. Id. at ¶ 3.
20. Jeff Miles was ranked number 2 on the list and Mont Cooper was ranked number 3. Id.
21. During October 1992, Mont Cooper was promoted to Station Captain. Id. at ¶ 4.
22. Cassidy was not interviewed for the Station Captain opening. Id. at ¶ 5.
23. Salt Lake County Fire Chief Hinman did not want to promote Cassidy because he believed that Cassidy's complaints and grievance regarding the fire code and his complaints regarding the Wild Lands Fire Crew demonstrated a lack of support for the department and its policies. Transcript at 196-98.
24. After learning of Cooper's promotion, Cassidy complained to the Fire Department alleging violations of the County Fire Civil Service Policy including the failure to conduct an interview. R. 37 at ¶ 6.
25. In October, 1992, Cassidy received a letter from the department informing him that although Cooper would ultimately retain his position as a Station Captain, the department would cancel and nullify the promotion process. The department then conducted interviews to correct the failure of not interviewing Cassidy as required by Fire Civil Service Policy 2150.3.2.2. Id. at ¶ 7.
26. In late October or early November of 1992, Cassidy was given an oral interview by Fire Chief Larry Hinman, Assistant Chief John Corak, and Deputy Chief Don Berry for the Captain position which had already been given to Cooper. Id. at ¶ 8. Cassidy was told at the time of the interview that he was not actually being considered for the opening and that the Cooper hire would be ratified. Transcript at 213.
27. An additional Station Captain position opened in December, 1992. R. 38 at ¶ 10.

28. At that time, the Fire Department reinitiated the interview process to fill the new opening and the opening intended for Mont Cooper. Id.
29. Because Cassidy had filed a grievance alleging that the previous interview process was tainted, Chief Hinman chose not to participate in the interviews which were conducted by Berry, Corak and Battalion Chief David Lindberg. Id. at ¶ 12.
30. Cassidy's grievance, filed before the Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Council, alleged that the promotional process was tainted by fraud, in violation of 17 Utah Code Ann. §28 (19) and in violation of Cassidy's right to an unbiased promotion process. Id. at ¶ 13.
31. Cassidy, George Painter, Mont Cooper and Jeff Miles were interviewed for the two open Station Captain positions. Id. at ¶ 13.
32. Following the interviews, the interviewers unanimously recommended to Hinman that Painter and Cooper be promoted. Id. at ¶ 14.
33. Painter and Cooper were promoted. Id. at ¶ 15.
34. Berry had numerous conversations with Hinman and was aware that Hinman did not want Cassidy promoted. Berry was also opposed to Cassidy's promotion because of Cassidy's expressed objections to the changes to the Fire Code and the Wild Lands Fire Crew. Transcript at 217-219.
35. Cassidy petitioned the Fire Civil Service Council for a temporary injunction to stop the promotional process. Cassidy's petition was granted. R. 39 at ¶ 16.

36. The Fire Department determined that the Council did not have the authority to issue the injunction and, based upon that conclusion, ignored the council's order and promoted Painter and Cooper Station Captain on January 1, 1993. Id. at ¶ 17.
37. On January 23, 1993, the Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Council heard plaintiff's grievance and ruled that it had no jurisdiction to hear grievances regarding promotion. Id. at ¶ 18.
38. Cassidy appealed that decision to Third District Court where Honorable Judge Timothy R. Hansen determined that the Council did have the authority to hear grievances regarding promotions and ordered the Council to decide Cassidy's grievance on its merits. Id. at ¶ 19.
39. On April 11, 1995, the Council determined that Chief Hinman did not violate Cassidy's rights by refusing to promote him. Findings of Fact and Decision dated April 11, 1995, R. 62-71.

MARSHALING THE EVIDENCE

Cassidy alleges that several findings of fact made by the District Court are not supported by the evidence before the court. As required by Utah law, Cassidy will address the evidence in support of each of these findings in turn.

A. Cassidy asserts that the record does not support the District Court's finding that Cassidy "carried his concerns far beyond his right to address a public concern and his grievance became a vendetta against the fire department." Finding No. 23, R. 281. Moreover, the record does not support the District Court's related finding that "plaintiff exercised his right to complain in such a manner that it affected the efficiency of the fire department." Finding No. 30, R. 282.

The only testimony in the record which supports this factual conclusion comes from the testimony of Chief Hinman, Assistant Chief Berry and Station Captain Scott Collins. Berry testified:

Q. Okay, Did Jim ever take any overt action with regard to his opposition by going to the press or going to a public figure?

A. No. What he did was he came in my office one day and basically made what I thought were threats that if we went ahead with the Wild Land Crew he was going to take action to see that we didn't hire those people.

Q. What did he specifically say that indicated to you that it was a threat?

A. He said that he was going to take some kind of action in opposition to our hiring the Wild Land Crew.

Q. Well, wouldn't it also be considered action if he had gone and filed an objection within the department to the implementation of that program? Wouldn't that also be considered an objection?

A. Yes.

Q. Is there any difficulty with having someone take action or objection to public policy?

A. The difficulty I have is when the fire fighter walks into the deputy chief's office and says that I'm opposed to your programs and I'm going to take action against it. That's the problem. I saw that as a problem.

Transcript at 197.

Hinman testified:

A. The denial of the promotion was based on what I felt was Mr. Cassidy's persistence in, since he had filed an appeal with the Civil Service Commission, it was his insistence in going above the administration to try and get remedied before the Civil Service - -

Q. Don't we have a policy where we encourage public employees to do that if they believe a public policy is not being properly administered?

A. Yes, I'm not totally familiar with the policy, but we do have a policy.

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