1997

# James Cassidy v. The Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Council : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Because Cassidy failed to marshal the evidence, this Court should assume the record supports the findings and proceed to review the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law. Alta Indus. Ltd. v. Hurst, 846 P.2d 1282 (Utah 1993). The F.C.S.C. found ample evidence to support the fire department's position that no adverse action was taken against Mr. Cassidy, nor was his right of free speech violated.

### POINT III

#### APPELLANT HAS NOT SUFFERED AN ADVERSE EMPLOYMENT ACTION AND THEREFORE HIS FIRST AMENDMENT CLAIM IS WITHOUT MERIT.

In order for Cassidy to prevail on his First Amendment claim, he must demonstrate that he has suffered an adverse retaliatory employment action motivated by the exercise of his right to free speech. Pickering v. Bd of Education, 391 U.S. 563, 20 L.Ed.2d 811 (1969). Numerous cases have limited this broad dictate. The speech must be on a matter of public concern. Connick v. Myers, 461 U.S. 138, 147, 75 L.Ed. 2d 708 (1983). The employee's interest in the speech must outweigh governmental concerns of running an efficient and productive office. Pickering, 391 U.S. at 568. And the complained-of action must be sufficiently adverse to present a potential or actual danger that the speech of employees will be chilled. Rutan v. Republican Party of Illinois, 497 U.S. 62, 73-74, 111 L.Ed.2d 52 (1990). A retaliatory employment action can take the form of a demotion,

diminished responsibility, termination or false accusations. Dahm v. Flynn, 60 F.3d 253 (7th Cir. 1994). See also, DeGuisseppie v. Village of Bellwood, 68 F.3d 187 (7th Cir. 1995). The adverse retaliatory action must be material or, in other words, the changes in employee employment conditions must be more disruptive than a mere inconvenience or alteration of job responsibility. Crady v. Liberty Nat'l Bank & Trust Co., 993 F.2d 132, 136 (7th Cir. 1993). The change must be sufficiently adverse that the employee is made worse off by it. DeGuisseppie, 68 F.3d at 192. In this case, no retaliatory action was taken by the department. Cassidy was not given a written warning, transferred, demoted, or fired. In fact, he was promoted by the fire chief at that same time he was asserting the fire department failed to give him a hearing in October of 1992.<sup>4</sup>

The facts showed that he filed his grievance in 1990, concerning the proper procedure for dealing with minor violations of the Fire Code. R. 114. Mr. Cassidy exercised his rights to contest the change before the F.C.S.C. without any adverse actions by his employer. R. 281, ¶22. Over two years expired from the time he filed his complaint over the change of procedure in enforcing the Fire Code and this cause of action. Clearly, the lapse of time weakens the argument that a retaliatory action was taken by the department. Cassidy's next complaint came after

---

<sup>4</sup>See R. 277, ¶1.



the announcement of captain promotions in February of 1992, when he was not selected. In the spring of 1992, he alleged the wildland fire crew was illegal. This speech occurred more than six months prior to the present action being filed. Again, no adverse action was taken by the fire department. Contrary to the assertion of retaliation, Cassidy was promoted in October of 1992. In addition, no formal charge was ever made by Mr. Cassidy; only the threat of some type of legal action to be taken. Transcript, p. 197, l. 11-12.

The Court in Dahm, 60 F.3d at 257, citing Smith v. Fruin, 28 F.3d 646, 649 n.3 (7th Cir. 1994), stated: "A materially adverse change might be indicated by a termination of employment, a demotion evidenced by a decrease in wage or salary, a less distinguished title, a material loss of benefits, significantly diminished material responsibilities, or other indices that might be unique to a particular situation." None of the above can be shown to have been directed to Cassidy.

Mr. Cassidy has forgotten that his actions of secreting a tape recorder during his interview, coupled with his expressed distrust of the fire chief and his marginal performance, played an important role in the chief's belief that he was not as qualified as those promoted. R. 282, ¶26. Therefore, since Mr. Cassidy did not suffer a material adverse action, he cannot demonstrate a First Amendment violation.

#### POINT IV

##### APPELLANT'S SPEECH WAS NOT OF A PUBLIC CONCERN.

Assuming arguendo, that Mr. Cassidy has suffered from an adverse retaliatory action, this Court then determines if his speech is a matter of public concern. Connick v. Meyers, 461 U.S. 138, 147; 103 S.Ct. 1684, 75 L.Ed.2d 708 (1983). Mt. Healthy City School Dist. v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 97 S.Ct. 568, 50 L.Ed.2d 471 (1977). In order to make the determination of public concern, the court considers the content, form and context of the speech. "In order for a public employee's speech to be of 'public concern,' . . . it is not always enough that 'the subject matter could in [certain] circumstances [be] the topic of a communication to the public that might be of a general interest.' What is actually said on that topic must itself be of public concern." Wren v. Spurlock, 798 F.2d 1313, 1317 n.1 (10th Cir. 1986). See also, Koch v. City of Hutchinson, 847 F.2d 1436, 1445 (10th Cir. 1988). Mr. Cassidy has not sought to inform the public that the fire department was not discharging its governmental responsibilities in the suppression of fires. Nor has he sought to bring to light actual or alleged wrongdoing or breach of public trust on the part of the fire chief or the department. He has merely challenged an ordinary change in procedure and criticized the formation of the wildland fire crew within the department. What is actually said on the topic is the

crux of the public concern, not the topic itself.<sup>5</sup> For instance, in Jurgensen v. Fairfax County, 745 F.2d 868, 888 (4th Cir. 1984), the court held that the release of internal police audit reports to the press, which detailed working conditions grievances but did not expose any illegality, abuse of authority, corruption or waste, was not on matter of public concern.

The fire department's responsibility for fire prevention and suppression is of public concern; however, Cassidy's grievance and subsequent criticism did not attempt to inform the public of an issue of public concern. His speech was motivated by his personal interest and not a desire to inform the public of wrongdoing or inefficiency on the part of the fire department. In sum, considering the content, form and context of appellant's speech, it did not rise to the level of public concern, and therefore is not protected.

#### POINT V

#### APPELLANT'S SPEECH DOES NOT OUTWEIGH THE FIRE DEPARTMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR PROMOTING EFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC SERVICE.

The protections of the Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment extend to all citizens. U.S. Const. amend. I. Though a public employee does not lose his right to free speech by becoming a public employee, not all restraint is unreasonable.

---

<sup>5</sup>The Connick test requires the court to look at the point of the speech. What was the employee's motive? Was the point to further a purely private interest? Callaway v. Hafeman, 832 F.2d 414, 417 (7th Cir. 1987).

Pickering v. Bd. of Education, 391 U.S. 563, 88 S.Ct. 1731, 20 L.Ed.2d 811 (1968). In applying the balancing test of Pickering, "The state has interests as an employer in regulating the speech of its employees . . . a balance between the interest of the [a public employee], as a citizen . . . [when] commenting on matters of public concern and the interest of the State, as an employer, in promoting the efficiency of the public services." Id. at 568 (insert added).

The first prong of the Pickering balancing test is whether the employee's speech can be "fairly characterized as constituting speech on a matter of public concern." Connick, 461 U.S. at 146 (Appellee's Point IV). The second prong of the Pickering/Connick test focuses on the governmental interest in the effective and efficient fulfillment of its responsibilities to the public through its employees, "because the employer should not be forced to allow events to unfold to the extent that the disruption of the office and the destruction of working relationships is manifest before taking action." Connick, 461 U.S. at 150. Like the determination of whether Cassidy's speech was of a public concern, the court looks at the time, place, and the manner of the communication to determine whether appellant's right of free speech outweighs the interests of the fire department.

Applying the time, place and manner test to Cassidy's two instances of speech demonstrates that he enjoyed challenging the

directives of his superiors and he believed that administration was "stupid." Transcript, p. 239, l 21-24; p. 240, l. 1-3.

Cassidy's initial concern was a minor change in how fire code violations would be handled by the fire department. He exercised his right to present a grievance through the chain of command to the F.C.S.C. It was not the fact that he complained through the merit system, but the **manner** in which he complained. Cassidy went to the fire chief's superior, outside of the grievance procedure, in an attempt to have the fire chief's decision influenced. Transcript, p. 216, l. 10-18. In Cassidy's second claim of free speech, he threatened some action against the fire department for creating the wildland crew. Transcript, p. 197, l. 4-8. The place of his speech was the deputy chief's office and his fire station, which resulted in contentious relations with his co-workers. Again, it was the manner and the place of his complaint that does not outweigh the fire department's interest in providing effective fire protection to the public. Also, it should be noted that in regards to the "time" of his complaint, his first complaint occurred more than two years before this action, and his second complaint, more than six months.

The fire department must maintain a work environment conducive to its mission. Those interests are: "(1) the need to maintain discipline or harmony among co-workers; (2) the need for

confidentiality; (3) the need to curtail conduct which impedes the [employees] proper and competent performance of his daily duties; and (4) the need to encourage a close and personal relationship between the employee and his superiors, where that relationship calls for loyalty and confidence." Clark v. Holmes 474 F.2d 928, 931 (7th Cir. 1972).

The government has a great interest in effective and efficient fulfillment of its responsibilities to the public. As a matter of good judgment, the First Amendment does not require a municipality to be run as a round table for employee complaints over internal office affairs. Connick, 461 U.S. at 149. This is particularly true in the case of the fire department. The operation of police and fire departments differs greatly from other public employment groups. H.J. Shewmake v. Bd. Of Fire and Police Comm'rs of the Village of East Alton, 390 N.E.2d 536, 539 (Ill. Ct. App. 5th District, 1979). Some dissension in a fire department is certain to arise. Discipline may be imposed as necessary to avoid adverse effects to the public interests. Klein v. Civil Serv. Comm'n of Cedar Rapids, 152 N.W.2d 195, 200 (Iowa 1967).

Because of the nature of firefighting, and its high stakes, operational efficiency and harmony among co-workers are critical. Where a fireman, motivated by resentment, bitterness, and self-aggrandizement, engages in disruptive conduct intending to undermine the authority of department officers, the speech accompanying such conduct is not constitutionally protected. Bickel v.

Burkhart, 632 F.2d 1251, 1257 (5th Cir. 1990).

Where appellant challenged his captain's directives to such extent that his fellow co-workers take action [Transcript, p. 236]; that they do not want to work with him [Transcript, p. 241, l. 1-3], affects the efficiency of the fire department. The fire chief lacked confidence in the appellant to follow office policy and recognized that Cassidy's behavior had created a problem with his supervisor and co-workers. The decision to promote other candidates was based on the belief they were better candidates. Thus, Mr. Cassidy's right to express himself does not outweigh the fire department's responsibility to perform efficiently for the public.

#### POINT VI

#### APPELLANT WOULD HAVE BEEN DENIED A PROMOTION TO CAPTAIN EVEN IF HIS SPEECH WAS PROTECTED.

Under the last prong of Mt. Healthy, 429 U.S. 274, Mr. Cassidy cannot recover if it can be established by a preponderance of the evidence that he would have been denied promotion even in the absence of the protected conduct. The facts, as determined by the F.C.S.C. and the lower court, amply demonstrate that Cassidy's promotion would have been denied even absent any protected conduct. More specifically, his actions and disruptive nature within the fire station, coupled with his

attempt to set up the fire department with his concealed tape recorder, reflected a disloyal attitude.

Under the analysis of the Supreme Court in Mt. Healthy, and applied by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals in Bickel v. Burkhardt, 632 F.2d 1251 (5th Cir. 1980), Mr. Cassidy cannot prevail on his free speech claims. The Bickel court held that the plaintiff fireman's right to recover for an adverse action of nonpromotion was conditioned upon (1) showing that he was not promoted because of the remarks he made to his superiors and (2) that his remarks were constitutionally protected. In addition, (3) if the defendant established by a preponderance of the evidence, that plaintiff would have been denied a promotion even in the absence of the protected conduct, the plaintiff could not recover. Bickel, 632 F.2d at 1255.<sup>6</sup> In this circumstance, the fire department is a paramilitary organization which requires esprit de corps not only between its rank and file but between firefighters and their supervisors. When lives may be at stake in a fire, an esprit de corps is essential to the success of the joint endeavor. "Carping, criticism and abrasive conduct has no place in an organization that depends upon common loyalty, and harmony among coworkers." Janusaitis v. Middlebury Volunteer Fire Dept., 607 F.2d 17, 25 (2nd Cir. 1979), citing Pickering, 391 U.S. at 570.

---

<sup>6</sup>It should be noted that in Bickel, the fire chief was a party to the action, unlike the case at hand.



Appellant's criticism of the administration of the fire department, his attempts to undermine his captain, and his attempt to set up the department with a secreted tape recorder clearly demonstrate that Mr. Cassidy was disruptive to the fire department and not qualified for the position of captain.

#### POINT VII

##### THE RECORD DOES NOT SUPPORT APPELLANT'S WHISTLEBLOWER CLAIM.

Mr. Cassidy cites for the first time on appeal that his conduct was protected under Salt Lake County's whistleblower ordinance, Section 2.80.110.A., and cites a portion thereof.

Generally, an issue must be expressly preserved [in the proceedings] below to warrant appellate consideration. State v. Pugmire, 898 P.2d 271, 273 n.4 (Utah App. 1995), [citing State v. Brown, 856 P.2d 358, 360 (Utah App. 1993)].

Failure to preserve the issue in the agency proceedings bars the court's consideration of the issue on appeal. See, Lamb v. B & B Amusements Corp., 869 P.2d 926, 931 (Utah 1993). See also, Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure which requires Cassidy's brief to contain a citation to the record showing the issue was preserved in the agency proceedings. Mr. Cassidy first raised the protection of the whistleblower ordinance in his Reply Memorandum of January 8, 1997 (R. 233) as an additional argument that his First Amendment rights were violated.

Subparagraph B. of Salt Lake County Code of Ordinances 2.80.110 does not extend the protection of the ordinance to employees for proper and justified personnel actions that were not taken for retaliatory purposes.

Nowhere in Mr. Cassidy's grievance before the F.C.S.C. or his Complaint in the lower court does he allege a violation of Salt Lake County ordinance 2.80.110.A. Mr. Cassidy's counsel contended then, as now, that the actions by the fire chief violated his First Amendment rights and Utah Code Ann. 17-28-2.6. The Court should not consider facts which are not supported by and cited to the record. See Uckerman v. Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 588 P.2d 142, 144 (Utah 1978). Failure to cite pages in the record should result in a finding upholding the decision below. Koulis v. Standard Oil Co., 746 P.2d 1182 (Utah App. 1987). In conclusion, Mr. Cassidy's assertion of a violation of the whistleblower ordinance was not raised below and not supported by the facts.

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, appellee, Salt Lake County Fire Civil Service Commission, respectfully requests that the Court affirm the decision of the lower court.